



Bylaws of the Lone Star Flat Track Association, LLC

Article I: Name and Mission

Section 1: **Name**: The name of the organization shall be the Lone Star Flat Track Association, LLC, hereinafter referred to as LSFTA.

Section 2: Mission: The LSFTA, founded by passionate flat track owners, professionals, and amateur riders, is dedicated to fostering growth and enthusiasm for the sport in Texas and surrounding states. Our mission is to create a vibrant community where both youth and adults can thrive in the flat track racing scene. Through organized events, training programs, and outreach initiatives, LSFTA aims to promote camaraderie, skill development, and safety awareness while cultivating a love for flat track racing among enthusiasts of all ages. Together, we're accelerating the momentum of this exhilarating sport while nurturing the next generation of riders.

Article II: Executive Summary

Section 1: **Organization Purpose**: The purpose of LSFTA is to revive and grow the sport of flat track motorcycle racing in the State of Texas, with the intent of attracting beginner through expert rider athletes, expanding and growing their skills, and providing them with an opportunity to more effectively compete on a National level and beyond. The focus will always be to create a fun, competitive, and family-oriented environment.

Section 2: **Goals**: By working with local, state, and national sponsors, and multiple venue owners/operators throughout Texas, LSFTA's goal is to hold a multi-race, multi-track (with diverse tracks ranging in size, dirt type, and indoor and outdoor locations) series throughout Spring and early Fall, and to continue with a shortened Winter indoor series. LSFTA is focused on running efficient race day events and ensuring all rules (per the established Association Rule Book) are fair and evenly applied. Furthermore, LSFTA will work hard to market all events and will emphasize constant communication to all racers, fans, sponsors, etc. Our end goal is to make LSFTA one of the premier race series not only in Texas, but throughout the country. This will bring the highest level of competition to the Lone Star State and will help move our Texas rider athletes to the top of the amateur and professional rankings.

Section 3: **Values**: At LSFTA, we uphold the values of the highest quality service, subject matter expertise, integrity, compassion and caring for our neighbors, and a drive to build and grow our communities.



Revision Level: A Revision Date: 04/14/2025

Section 4: **How We Serve Our Target Applicants**: LSFTA will incorporate highly skilled and knowledgeable subject matter experts (SME's) from not only the racing community, but from the business community, as well. Recognizing that a successful organization must fully incorporate people from various backgrounds and experience levels, LSFTA aims to meet the needs of our riders and their families at every event, and off the racetrack, as well.

Article III: Membership

Section 1: **Eligibility**: Membership in LSFTA shall be open to individuals who support the mission and goals of the organization. An annual membership fee will be determined and assessed by the Board.

Section 2: **Rights and Responsibilities**: Members shall have the right to participate in LSFTA activities and meetings and shall uphold the values and mission of the organization. Other member perks, offers, and/or rights will be determined by the Board and communicated through the Association website.

Article IV: Board of Directors

Section 1: **Composition**: The Board of Directors at a minimum shall consist of a President, Vice President, and Treasurer. Other Board members or Association Directors can be identified through established Association Meetings (see Article V below) and must be approved per Article VI below and communicated and documented through the Meeting notes.

Section 2: **Duties**: The Board of Directors shall oversee the management and operation of LSFTA, including but not limited to strategic planning, fundraising, and financial management.

Section 3: **Eligibility**: Board membership shall be reviewed and elections held for listed Board positions (including Directors) every three (3) years. Elections will be announced and posted as part of the Association website and voting is open to all Association members.

Section 4: **Compensation**: Board members and Directors are eligible for compensation commensurate with work performed for the Association. Compensation levels will be established by the Treasurer, reviewed by the Vice President, and approved by the President. In lieu of monetary compensation, each Board member and Director will be compensated alternatively as follows:

- 50% savings on established Pro class fees,
- Three (3) free Amateur class entries,
- Four (4) free gate entry passes (members and/or directors working the event are not required to pay a gate fee).

NOTE: Board members and/or Directors from the same direct family qualify for only one (1) alternative compensation package. Furthermore, the alternative compensation package can only be used/applied to the Board member or Director, and/or direct/immediate family members.



Revision Level: A Revision Date: 04/14/2025

Article V: *Meetings*

Section 1: **General Meetings**: General meetings of LSFTA will be held at least once a month, with additional meetings called/scheduled as necessary by the Board of Directors.

Section 2: **Quorum**: A quorum for any meeting shall consist of a majority of the minimum required Board of Directors present (e.g. President, Vice President, Treasurer).

Article VI: Amendments

Section 1: **Procedure**: These bylaws may be amended by a two-thirds vote of the minimum required Board of Directors present at any meeting, provided that notice of the proposed amendment has been given in writing at least 7 days in advance. Rulebook changes and any other proposed changes to Association operating procedures, strategies, and/or other business acumen (e.g. financial and marketing strategies), shall be proposed as part of the General Meetings (Article V above) and approved in accordance with the requirements listed in this procedure.

Article VII: Dissolution

Section 1: **Procedure**: In the event of the dissolution of LSFTA, any remaining assets shall be distributed to one or more organizations with similar purposes as determined by the Board of Directors.

REVIEW HISTORY

Date	Review Type	Reviewed By
4/16/2025	Approval	Ken Loewrigkeit, Pat Tharp, Boyd Thomure

REVISION HISTORY

Date	Section	Description of Revision